ORIGINAL

RECEIVED

MAR 11 2014

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Sumter County

William Jeffrey Young, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

DANIEL D'ANGELO JACKSON,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2011-199366

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

CARMEN V. GANJEHSANI
Appellate Defender

DAYNE C. PHILLIPS
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the trial court err in admitting into evidence five statements made by Appellant's non-testifying co-defendant without adequately redacting the portions implicating Appellant in violation of his Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights to confront and cross-examine witnesses against him, as interpreted by *Bruton v. United States*, 391 U.S. 123 (1968) and its progeny?
- II. Did the trial court violate Appellant's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights to confront and cross-examine witnesses pursuant to *Crawford v. Washington*, 541 U.S. 36 (2004), by allowing five statements by Appellant's non-testifying co-defendant into evidence, which implicated Appellant in the murder and armed robbery?
- III. Did the trial court err in refusing to grant Appellant's motion for severance where Appellant's joint trial compromised his right to confront and cross-examine his accuser by admitting five inculpatory statements from his non-testifying co-defendant?
- IV. Did the trial court err in denying Appellant's motion for a mistrial when the non-testifying co-defendant's statements were not adequately redacted and a State's witness committed a *Bruton*-type error?
- V. Did the trial court err in refusing to quash the jury panel pursuant to Appellant's *Batson* motion where the State's explanation for striking two African-American jurors was that the jurors did not want to serve on the jury, and where the State also failed to provide an explanation for striking another African-American juror?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On September 11, 2008, the Sumter County Grand Jury indicted Appellant Daniel Jackson for murder and armed robbery. R. 1073.

On August 8, 2011, Appellant and his co-defendant, Reginald Canty, proceeded to trial before the Honorable William Jeffrey Young and a jury. R. 1. Arthur Wilder represented Appellant, and Garryl Deas represented the co-defendant, while Deputy Solicitor John Meadors represented the State.

On August 12, 2011, the jury found Appellant and his co-defendant guilty as charged. R. 1044, l. 18 – 1050, l. 14. The trial court sentenced Appellant to life imprisonment on the murder conviction and thirty years imprisonment on the armed robbery conviction. R. 1066, ll. 6-13. The trial court also sentenced the co-defendant to thirty years imprisonment on both convictions, to run concurrently. R. 1065, ll. 6-16.

This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Background

On January 12, 2008, William Flexon died from gunshot wounds while delivering three pizzas to a vacant lot in a mobile home park in Sumter County. Based on the five statements given to law enforcement by Appellant's co-defendant, Reginald Canty, and the subsequent investigation by the Sumter County Sheriff's Office, Appellant and his co-defendant were charged with the murder and armed robbery of William Flexon and later tried jointly before a jury.

Jury Selection (*Batson* Motion)

During jury selection, defense counsel informed the trial court, "Your Honor, we'd ask that the record reflect a motion to be heard later." R. 60, ll. 17-18. At the conclusion of jury selection, defense counsel moved to quash the jury panel pursuant to *Batson v. Kentucky*, 476 U.S. 79 (1986), based on the State striking African-American jurors. R. 71, ll. 9-24; R. 73, ll. 9-22. The State struck eight African-American jurors: (1) juror #64 — Wayne Green; (2) juror #157—Patricia Williams; (3) juror #30—Terry Crowder; (4) juror #167—Marion Thomas; (5) juror #46—Jason Evans; (6) juror #32—Essie Dallas; (7) juror #28—Linda Cooper; and (8) juror #140—Walnetta Spears. R. 57 – 69.

Based on the assertion of racial discrimination, the trial court requested that the State give race-neutral reasons for striking the eight African-American jurors. R. 74, l. 2. Despite the solicitor's statement, that "every [juror] on this list had . . . a serious conviction or charge[.]" the solicitor failed to show a conviction or pending charge for half of the African-American jurors struck: (1) #157—Patricia Williams; (2) #167—Marion Thomas; (3) #32—Essie Dallas; and (4) #140—Walnetta Spears. R. 74, l. 8 – 76, l. 18.

- (1) Juror #157—Patricia Williams: The solicitor claimed, “[I]t was obvious to me she wanted off. And everyone that wanted off, that is my reason that I chose not to present her.” R. 74, l. 22 – 75, l. 5.
- (2) Juror #167—Marion Thomas: The Solicitor noted that this juror was unemployed and that he struck an unemployed white male. R. 75, l. 24 – 76, l. 3.
- (3) Juror #32—Essie Dallas: The solicitor maintained, “[I]n my notes . . . said she did not want to serve.” R. 76, ll. 7-9.
- (4) Juror #140—Walnetta Spears: The solicitor failed to provide an explanation for striking this juror.

Defense counsel then told the trial court, “If you find those reasons satisfactory, I have nothing else to say.” R. 77, ll. 1-2. The trial court ruled, “Well, I looked at the jury . . . you’re not entitled to the perfect jury or to one of all - - but certainly the ones who have pending charges, I find that to be race neutral and deny your motion. . . . And for your record, your motion is denied.” R. 77, ll. 3-12.

***Jackson v. Denno* Hearing**

Pre-trial, a hearing was held pursuant to *Jackson v. Denno*, 378 U.S. 368 (1964), to determine the admissibility of the five statements made to law enforcement by Appellant’s co-defendant, Reginald Canty. R. 79 – 150; State’s Exhibit # 3 (Statement by Canty), R. 1075; State’s Exhibit # 5 (Statement by Canty), R. 1077; State’s Exhibit # 7 (Statement by Canty), R. 1079; State’s Exhibit # 8 (Statement by Canty), R. 1080; State’s Exhibit # 9 (Statement by Canty), R. 1081; Court’s Exhibit # 9 (Collection of Statements), Suppl. R. 1. Officers Dominick West and Robert Burnish of the Sumter County Sheriff’s Office testified at the *Jackson v. Denno* hearing. The trial court ultimately found that the co-defendant’s

statements to law enforcement were admissible because the statements “were made freely and voluntarily.” R. 150, ll. 6-14.

Motion for Severance of Joint Trial

Defense counsel moved for severance of Appellant’s joint trial because co-defendant’s statements to law enforcement and Appellant’s right to cross-examine and confront witnesses against him. R. 148, l. 11 – 150, l. 2. Defense counsel argued that he could not properly attack the co-defendant’s credibility in making those five statements to law enforcement in a joint trial, particularly when the statements contained varying levels of Appellant’s culpability in the murder and armed robbery. R. 148, l. 19 – 149, l. 9. Defense counsel also argued that a joint trial denied Appellant his right to a fair trial because redacting Appellant’s name from his co-defendant’s statements cannot cure the prejudice created by the statements if the co-defendant does not testify in this joint trial. R. 149, l. 10 – 150, l. 2. The trial court denied defense counsel’s motion for severance of Appellant’s joint trial. R. 151, l. 23 – 152, l. 2.

First Motion for a Mistrial

Counsel for the co-defendant elicited the following testimony during cross-examination of Officer Jennifer Thomas of the Sumter County Sheriff’s Office:

Q: And then [the report taken on the night of the murder] also states that you spoke with someone by the name of Linda Canty.

A: Yes, sir.

Q: And also on your report, it indicates that a suspect is Daniel Jackson [Appellant].

R. 329, ll. 3-7. Defense counsel contemporaneously objected, and outside the presence of the jury, moved for a mistrial. R. 330, ll. 1-2. Defense counsel argued that the report is

prejudicial as “rank hearsay” and requested that the trial court strike the question and answer. R. 329, l. 18 – 330, l. 7. The trial court noted, “Well, how is it prejudicial for your client? He’s a defendant in the courtroom. I mean, they [the jury] would have to suspect that at some point in time his [Appellant’s] name would come into play.” R. 330, ll. 8-11. Defense counsel further argued, “[The State is] posturing as though [Appellant] was a suspect . . . on that particular night when the report was issued, and I object to that.” R. 330, ll. 12-15. The trial court refused to grant the mistrial motion, but agreed to strike the witness’ answer. R. 331, ll. 5-8. The trial court also granted defense counsel’s request for a curative instruction. R. 331, l. 15 – 332, l. 8.

Bruton Redactions and Crawford

At trial, the State redacted the co-defendant’s statements by replacing the references to Appellant’s name with inserting “another person” in its place. R. 545, l. 9 – 550, l. 8. The trial court found the redactions satisfied the requirements set forth in *Bruton*, 391 U.S. 123. R. 550, ll. 9-10. Defense counsel objected and argued that the redactions do not satisfy *Bruton* and prevent defense counsel from cross-examining the co-defendant. R. 550, l. 16 – 551, l. 8. The trial court overruled defense counsel’s objection. R. 551, ll. 8-9. The co-defendant’s statements were subsequently entered into evidence over defense counsel’s objection and were read aloud to the jury. R. 563, l. 19 – 564, l. 3; R. 583, ll. 4-9; R. 587, l. 22 – 588, l. 3; R. 761, ll. 8-13; R. 765, ll. 20-25; State’s Exs. # 3, 5, 7, 8, 9; 1075-1081.

The State failed to redact references to Appellant’s race and gender in the co-defendant’s statements. R. 572, l. 24 – 575, l. 22; R. 578, l. 11 – 581, l. 10; R. 586, l. 10 – 587, l. 9; State’s Exhibits # 3, # 5, # 7, # 8, # 9, R. 1075-1081. Specifically, the solicitor failed to redact the pronouns in the co-defendant’s statements (e.g., referring to Appellant as

“Him” and “He”). In State’s Exhibit # 5, the solicitor redacted Appellant’s name, but failed to redact the reference to Appellant’s gender and the co-defendant’s familiarity with Appellant: “The pizza man was met by 3 males with hoodies, *[another person] was one of the males* and I don’t know who the other two were.” (emphasis added). When examining State’s Exhibit # 5 and # 7, these statements reveal Appellant’s race and gender (“black male”). In State’s Exhibit # 9, the solicitor failed to redact Appellant’s nickname: “j-boy.” The solicitor also read and emphasized the importance of the co-defendant’s statements during his closing argument. R. 1003, l. 6 – 1027, l. 16.

Furthermore, the co-defendant’s statements note that Appellant a/k/a “another person” bought a Little Debbie snack cake from a convenience store with the co-defendant prior to the murder. R. 558, l. 15 – 559, l. 5; R. 572, l. 24 – 575, l. 22; R. 578, l. 11 – 581, l. 10; State’s Exhibits # 3; State’s Exhibit # 5. R. 1075 – 1077. Notably, the State established that, *prior* to the introduction of the co-defendant’s statements, Appellant bought a Little Debbie snack cake while in a convenience store prior to the murder. R. 260, l. 18 – 276, l. 8. The trial court sustained defense counsel’s objection after the solicitor sought to enter a little Debbie snack wrapper into evidence. R. 269, ll. 9-20. Counsel for the co-defendant also established that the Little Debbie snack cake was sold to the “fairer skinned gentleman.” R. 275, l. 8 – 276, l. 6. The convenience store clerk testified on cross-examination that he had no idea if the Little Debbie snack wrapper marked as State’s Exhibit # 24 was the snack cake purchased on the night of the murder. R. 287, l. 6 – 288, l. 9.

The solicitor later sought to enter pictures of a Little Debbie snack cake wrapper, and defense counsel objected to the admissibility of these photographs. R. 361, l. 7 – 362, l. 25. The trial court stated, “I’ll rule on that at the appropriate time.” R. 363, ll. 3-4. The

solicitor then established and focused on the fact that a Little Debbie cake wrapper was found in the trailer park after the murder (one-hundred and thirty-seven feet away from the decedent's van). R. 371, l. 17 – 376, l. 6; R. 389, ll. 10-15; R. 395, l. 22 – 453, l. 2; R. 396, l. 1 – 403, l. 19; R. 415, l. 16 – 419, l. 22; R. 853, l. 18 – 859, l. 20. Investigator Raymond Mackessy admitted on cross-examination that no fingerprints were found on the Little Debbie Snack wrapper and that he does not know how the snack wrapper got there. R. 403, ll. 8-19; R. 418, l. 20 – 419, l. 22. The trial court ultimately admitted the Little Debbie snack wrapper and photograph of the snack cake into evidence over defense counsel's objection. R. 858, l. 1 – 859, l. 20; State's Exhibit # 24; State's Exhibit # 85; State's Exhibit # 86. Both the solicitor and counsel for the co-defendant reiterated that Appellant purchased the Little Debbie snack cake wrapper in their closing arguments. R. 969, l. 21 – 970, l. 5; R. 1022, ll. 9-14.

Additionally, the solicitor elicited the following testimony from Officer Burnish:

Q: You were not there when Mr. Canty [co-defendant] gave a statement on the 15th?

A: I was in the building; I was not present for that statement.

Q: Now, what happened and what did you do next in your investigation?

A: *Based on the information that was received on that date is when we issued warrants for the arrest of Mr. Jackson.*

Q: Now, did you go look for Mr. Jackson?

A: Yes, we did.

R. 772, ll. 1-11 (emphasis added).

Second Motion for a Mistrial

At the close of the State's case, defense counsel moved for a directed verdict, and in

the alternative, a mistrial: "Either the statements have been *improperly redacted* in order to get some circumstantial evidence . . . [, o]r there is no evidence in the record pertaining to [Appellant's guilt]." R. 873, l. 19 – 877, l. 12 (emphasis added). Defense counsel noted that the State failed to find any fingerprints or DNA linking Appellant to the crime scene or the items allegedly involved in the offense.¹ R. 874, ll. 15-20. The trial court denied both the motion for a directed verdict and the motion for a mistrial. R. 878, ll. 13-21.

Renewed Motions for a Mistrial and Motion for a New Trial

Defense counsel renewed his prior motions for a mistrial and subsequently moved for a new trial after the jury found Appellant guilty as charged. R. 943, l. 1 – 944, l. 21; R. 1051, l. 24 – 1052, l. 6. Defense counsel argued:

[T]he only logical inference would be that the jury must have decided to use those statements that Mr. Canty [co-defendant] gave against Mr. Jackson [Appellant], which we don't believe should be permitted under the law of Bruton, the confrontation of issues. The right that [Appellant] has under the United States Constitution and [the] constitution of our state, Your Honor.

R. 1052, ll. 19-23. Defense counsel further argued, "[T]hose rights were not afforded [to Appellant] because of the joint trial, the nature of the joint trial, and the denial of our motion for severance." R. 1052, l. 25 – 1053, l. 2. The trial court denied the renewed motion for a mistrial and the motion for a new trial. R. 1054, ll. 17-21. Defense counsel filed a motion for reconsideration on August 16, 2011, arguing the trial court should have granted either the motion for a mistrial or the motion for a new trial. R. 1067. The trial court denied the motion for reconsideration in a written Order on August 24, 2011. R. 1072.

¹ R. 356; R. 396 – 439; R. 698 – 710; R. 721 – 722; R. 730 – 731.

ARGUMENT

- I. **The trial court erred in admitting into evidence five statements made by Appellant's non-testifying co-defendant without adequately redacting the portions implicating Appellant in violation of his Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights to confront and cross-examine witnesses against him, as interpreted by *Bruton v. United States*, 391 U.S. 123 (1968), and its progeny.**

“The Confrontation Clause of the Sixth Amendment, which was extended to the states by the Fourteenth Amendment, guarantees the right of a criminal defendant to confront witnesses against him, and this includes the right to cross-examine witnesses.” *State v. Holder*, 382 S.C. 278, 283, 676 S.E.2d 690, 693 (2009); *See* U.S. Const. amends. VI and XIV. In *Crawford v. Washington*, 541 U.S. 36, 50-51 (2004), the United States Supreme Court held that testimonial out-of-court statements are not admissible under the Confrontation Clause unless the witness is unavailable and the defendant had prior opportunity to cross-examine the witness. In *Bruton v. United States*, 391 U.S. 123, 126-137 (1968), the Court held that a non-testifying co-defendant's confession that inculcates another defendant is inadmissible at their joint trial, even if the jury is instructed that the confession can only be used as evidence against the confessor, because of the substantial risk that the jury would look to the incriminating extrajudicial statements in determining the other's guilt.

In *Richardson v. Marsh*, 481 U.S. 200, 207-08 (1987), the Court clarified that the rule announced in *Bruton* applies only when the co-defendant's statement implicates the defendant “on its face” and does not apply to statements that only become incriminating when linked to other evidence introduced at trial. The *Richardson* court also held that an adequate redaction cures a *Bruton* violation:

Even more significantly, evidence requiring linkage differs from evidence incriminating on its face in

the practical effects which application of the Bruton exception would produce. If limited to facially incriminating confessions, Bruton can be complied with by redaction – a possibility suggested in that opinion itself. If extended to confessions incriminating by connection, not only is that not possible, but it is not even possible to predict the admissibility of a confession in advance of trial.

Richardson, 481 U.S. at 208-09 (citation omitted); *See State v. Page*, 378 S.C. 476, 482, 663 S.E.2d 357, 359 (Ct. App. 2008) (stating redactions are a tool to allow the admission of a co-defendant's confession against the confessor in a joint trial because it permits the confession to be used against the non-testifying confessor, while not implicating the co-defendant). Notably, the statements in *Richardson* did not directly refer to the defendant; instead, the statements became incriminating only when linked to other evidence developed at trial. *Id.* at 196.

In *Gray v. Maryland*, 523 U.S. 185 (1998), the Court considered *Bruton*'s application when the redaction consists of replacing the defendant's name with an obvious blank space, a symbol, or a word such as "deleted." The *Gray* Court noted that the *Richardson* decision had limited the scope of *Bruton* to instances where the reference to the defendant was on the face of the co-defendant's statement. Yet, the *Gray* Court held that a statement which "substituted blanks and the word 'delete' for the petitioner's proper name[]" falls within the class of statements to which *Bruton*'s protections apply." *Id.* at 197. The *Gray* Court reasoned that a trial court must look at the *type* of inferences which are necessary to make a connection to the defendant, not the fact that there are inferences, to determine the applicability of *Bruton*. *Id.* at 196. The *Gray* Court stated, "*The inferences at issue here involve statements that, despite redaction, obviously refer directly to someone, often obviously the defendant, and which involve inferences*

that a jury ordinarily could make immediately, even [if the statement was] the very first item introduced at trial.” *Id.* (emphasis added). Thus, the *Gray* Court held that the statements applied under *Bruton* because the statements implicated the defendant the same as if there was a direct reference, and the connection did not depend on other evidence introduced at trial. *Id.* at 196-97.

Similarly, in *State v. Holder*, 382 S.C. 278, 285-86, 676 S.E.2d 690, 694 (2009), our Supreme Court found the substitution of Holder's name with the pronoun "she" was insufficient to obscure her identity because the jury could readily determine the statement referred to her as she was the only female defendant. The *Holder* court held that the redaction was analogous to the redactions in *Gray* because, despite the redaction, it was apparent the co-defendant was referring to Holder, and the inference was one that was obvious even without relying on the other testimony developed at trial. *Id.* Therefore, the *Holder* court found the admission of the redacted statement violated Holder's rights under the Confrontation Clause because her co-defendant did not testify and was not subject to cross-examination. *Id.* at 286, 676 S.E.2d at 694.

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