ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Sumter County
William Jeffrey Young, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2011-199366

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

DANIEL D'ANGELO JACKSON,

Appellant

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOHN W. McINTOSH
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 5758
P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-6305

ERNEST A. FINNEY, III
Solicitor, Third Judicial Circuit
P. O. Box 836
Sumter, SC 29150
(803) 436-2185

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

MAR 25 2014

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

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

The attenuated reference to “another person” or “other person” is distinguishable from cases recently addressed by the court. Unlike Henson, the Canty statements would not be read to facially refer specifically to Jackson. To the contrary, the jury here would have to refer to other evidence to determine what role Appellant had in the crime. Unlike Henson, no other co-defendants were named though there were multiple other unnamed persons suggested in the statements. The jury could not assume from the face of any statement what Jackson did. Similarly, unlike Holder, the various statements had other individuals who were unidentified and did not uniquely point to Jackson as it did in Holder who was the only female on trial, where the jury would likely infer the reference to Holder. Similarly, the specific reference to “James or J-boy” was not a reference to the appellant and did not implicate any Bruton issue. In fact, it is not clear from the statement how many were involved.

Further, there was no singular “another person” identified in the various statements who had a particular role that the jury would have only inferred was Jackson. From the collateral evidence presented to the jury, it was clear that Jackson was identified by the store employee on the video. R. 296. His presence at the store was conceded by his counsel in his opening and closing statement. R. 173, 977, 982-83, 998. Similarly, it was shown that someone bought a Little Debbie snack on the video, but one of the employees was unable to identify who or what was brought. R. 260-64, 287. But see Tr. 275 (on video fairer skinned person purchases Little Debbie).¹²

Contrary to Henson, Holder, and State v. LaBarge, 275 S.C. 168, 268 S.E.2d 278 (1980)(replacement of “LaBarge” to “Mister X” pointed directly to Defendant), it cannot be said that “another person” or “other person” at any or all times pointed to Jackson. Similar to McDonald, 400 S.C., 274-276(S.C.App. 2012), the “another person” phrase only implicated Canty and did not limit the participants or their discrete roles in the killing.

In the Final Portion of his initial argument, the Appellant complains that the following testimony from Officer Burnish was Bruton error. In particular,

Q: You were not there when Mr. Canty [co-defendant] gave a statement on the 15th?

A: I was in the building; I was not present for that statement.

Q: Now, what happened and what did you do next in your investigation?

A: Based on the information that was received on that date is when we issued warrants for the arrest of Mr. Jackson.

Q: Now, did you go look for Mr. Jackson?

¹² There were references to the other person seen on the video in the store wearing a black hooded sweatshirt. R. 280-81. Counsel Wilder presented this unidentified individual as leaving the store prior to Jackson in support of his theory. R. 183. He similarly referenced this unknown person in the hooded jacket in his closing. R. 977, 982. He also notes that this person left before an employee named Junior’s nephew, who both left before Jackson and Canty, during the critical time period. R. 981-82. See also, R. 258, 274-76, 284. The nephew was seen dancing in the store and walked to the right when he left. R. 282. However, the employee could not tell on the video what way the hooded sweatshirt man left. R. 281.

A: Yes, we did.

R.p. 772, ll. 1-11 (emphasis added). No objection was made to the inquiry by any counsel.

Respondent submits that claim the Petitioner about R. 772 is making is not preserved for the appeal due to the lack of a contemporaneous objection. “For an objection to be preserved for appellate review, the objection must be made at the time the evidence is presented ... and with sufficient specificity to inform the circuit court judge of the point being urged by the objector.” State v. Byers, 392 S.C. 438, 444, 710 S.E.2d 55, 58 (2011). “Error preservation rules do not require a party to use the exact name of a legal doctrine in order to preserve an issue for appellate review.” State v. Brannon, 388 S.C. 498, 502, 697 S.E.2d 593, 595 (2010). Here, no objection was made concerning the reference. It is not preserved.

Assuming arguendo that matter may be considered, the Appellant claims regardless of the inadequate redactions addressed above, it was apparent given the context of the record that the non-testifying co-defendant was referring to Appellant in his five statements to law enforcement and particular the January 15 statement. State Exhibit 3, R.p. 556-563. Respondent submits that this claimed inference concerning the statements does not create a Bruton error. First, other information had been developed prior to that point concerning Jackson. This included the identification of Appellant Jackson in the video by January 13, 2008. R.p. 294-96,770. He was immediately a suspect at that point on January 13, 2008. R. 376. Canty was recognized on January 14 as being the person with Jackson and that they had spoken to Canty previously. R.p. 771. The statements that Canty gave on January 13, State Exhibit 8 and State Exhibit 9 did not say anything about either Jackson or about another person asking him to rob a pizza man. R.p. 764-68. In the January 15 unredacted statement, it indicated only that “Deangelo was standing by

the van looking at the guys wrestling. R.p. 83-85. A reference to an unnamed “tall black man” was in the unredacted statement and references to Desmond Canty and DeAngelo Jackson were later redacted from the statement to another person or other person throughout. R.p. 83-85, 557-561. Furthermore, the questioning on R.p. 772 did not reference any specific information that was gained from the statement against Jackson or other information that may have been received.

However, the Appellant tries to read too much into the inferences he suggests about the testimony at R.p. 772. Simply put the officer testified that based upon the unstated information he had received, a warrant was issued for Appellant. For several reasons we find no error in the admission of the above testimony. First, Officer Burnish never repeated the January 15 statements made by Canty. Rather, he testified only to the conclusions he made based on what his investigation had thus far revealed. See State v. Brown, 317 S.C. 55, 63, 451 S.E.2d 888, 893 (1994) State v. Thompson, 352 S.C. 552, 558, 575 S.E.2d 77, 81 (Ct. App. 2003) finding officers' statements explaining why they began their surveillance of defendant's apartment were not hearsay); State v. Thompson, 352 S.C. 552, 558, 575 S.E.2d 77, 81 (Ct.App.2003) (“ ‘[A]n out of court statement is not hearsay if it is offered for the limited purpose of explaining why a government investigation was undertaken.’ ” (quoting Brown, 317 S.C. at 63, 451 S.E.2d at 894)). Furthermore, Burnish did not testify to any specific statements that identified Jackson. Because this testimony did not constitute hearsay, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting it. See State v. Tucker, 319 S.C. 425, 428, 462 S.E.2d 263, 265 (1995)(stating the admission or exclusion of evidence is left to the sound discretion of the trial judge, whose decision will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion). For all the foregoing reasons, his first argument is without merit.

HARMLESS ERROR

Any error in the admission of the statements was harmless error. Harrington v. California, 395 U.S. 250, 254, 89 S. Ct. 1726, 23 L. Ed. 2d 284 (1969); Delaware v. Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. 673, 679, 106 S. Ct. 1431, 89 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1986); State v. Holder. Thus, even if Jackson's Confrontation Clause rights were violated, a harmless-error analysis must be applied. "Whether the error is harmless depends upon a host of factors, including: (1) the importance of the witness's testimony in the prosecution's case, (2) whether the testimony was cumulative, (3) the presence or absence of evidence corroborating or contradicting the testimony of the witness on material points, (4) the extent of cross-examination otherwise permitted, and (5) the overall strength of the prosecution's case." Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. at 684.

The Appellant conceded being in the store contemporaneous to when the telephone call setting up the pizza man was made. R. 173, 977, 998. Jackson was identified with Canty at the store on the video. R. 296. Upon arrest, Jackson made an inculpatory statement when served with the armed robbery warrant that "how could I be charges with armed robbery if I didn't steal anything from the pizza man." R.p. 595, ll. 1-2. His guilty knowledge was reflected in his hiding when the police came to his aunt's apartment in Summerton and watched them leave before returning. R.p. 595, ll. 5-7. Also, R. 486-88. The day after the shooting, an empty-handed Jackson was picked up by his uncle Isaac Boyd at a motel in Sumter and he asked him to take him to Curtis Wheeler's house to pick up clothes and Jackson and Wheeler went to an abandoned trailer. R. 507-510. After Jackson brought a clothes basket back, Boyd saw a rifle which Jackson took into his aunt's house. R. 510-11. Jackson asked Boyd to lie for him and tried to get Boyd to hold the rifle. R. 511, 516, 518. Jackson asked Toya Rush on the evening of

January 12, 2008 for socks and gloves, but she claimed she did not give him any. R. 914-15. The rifle that was recovered from the apartment of Jackson's aunt was identified as one of the fired two murder weapons through ballistic testing of the rifle and the fired bullet. [State Exh. 58-A]. R. 486, 490, 496, 502, 510-11, 673-77.

Further, a pizza box with pizza in it and a warmer from Sambino's were recovered on January 22, 2008 at St. Mark's Court. R. 386, 408, 803. Also R. 204-05. This was the location where Jackson's uncle took him where the Winchester model 94 rifle was picked up. R. 386, 408, 508, 803. On the night of the crime, 3 large pizzas were ordered. R. 198. At the crime scene on January 13, two pizza boxes had been recovered. R. 381-82, 384.

The Appellant claims that to satisfy the harmless error standard, there needed to be additional forensic evidence such as fingerprints or DNA specifically linking him to the crime scene. This is not necessary. There are specific links to the crime scene from the rifle in his identified in his possession, the pizza and a pizza warmer from the crime located where Appellant recovered the rifle the day after the shooting. His assessment would be more evidence would have been helpful, but it does not preclude the reasonable conclusion that the available evidence satisfied harmless error.

Under these discrete circumstances, any error was harmless.

ARGUMENT 2 – Crawford and Bruton

II. The trial court did not violate the Appellant's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights to confront and cross-examine witnesses pursuant to Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36 (2004), by allowing five statements by Appellant's non-testifying co-defendant into evidence, which did not directly implicate Appellant in the murder and armed robbery due to the redaction of Appellant's name with neutral pronouns and it use only against Canty.

Respondent incorporates by reference its argument from Argument One that the redacted

statements did not implicate Appellant where his name was removed from the multifarious statements made by him. The Appellant claims the five statements made to law enforcement by Appellant's non-testifying co-defendant were testimonial and were crucial to the State's case against Appellant. R. 79-150. Due to the co-defendant's exercise of his Fifth Amendment right not to testify, he was unavailable as a witness and Appellant had no prior opportunity to cross-examine his accuser. Thus, the introduction of the inadequately redacted statements violated Appellant's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights to cross-examine and confront the witnesses against him. Crawford, 541 U.S. at 42. However, Respondent submits that the statements were not introduced against the Appellant, but against his co-defendant – the maker of the statements. Thus his confrontation right was not violated because it was not a witness against him.

In Crawford, 541 U.S. 68, the Supreme Court held that testimonial statements of unavailable witnesses are admissible against a defendant only where there had previously been an opportunity for confrontation. Otherwise, the admission of such statements offends a defendant's rights under the Confrontation Clause. *Id.* However, the statement at issue here was redacted as to Petitioner and admitted only against Canty - the defendant who made the statement. Crawford could not apply. In short, the statement was not admitted against Petitioner, but against Canty. Petitioner's confrontation rights were protected by redaction under Bruton, 391 U.S. 123

In Bruton, the Supreme Court held that "admission of [the co-defendant's] confession in [a] joint trial violated petitioner's right of cross-examination secured by the Confrontation Clause of the Sixth Amendment." 391 U.S. at 126. Thus, to avoid a confrontation right violation, and for the statement to be admissible, any such statement must be redacted to avoid directly implicating

(by name or direct, or inescapable inference) a defendant's co-defendant. *Id.*, Gray, *supra*, Holder, *supra*. Here the statement was properly redacted which prevented any Confrontation Clause issue.

Crawford's main concern was for a defendant's right "to be confronted with the witnesses against him." Crawford, 541 U.S. at 42. Crawford did not abrogate the Supreme Court's prior holdings in Bruton or Marsh, which found no Sixth Amendment violation when the admitted statement is not facially incriminating. See Crawford, 541 U.S. at 57 (finding its decision consistent with other Confrontation Clause cases, including Bruton; Richardson, 481 U.S. at 206 ("Ordinarily, a witness whose testimony is introduced at a joint trial is not considered to be a witness 'against' a defendant if the jury is instructed to consider that testimony only against a codefendant"). Thus, while co-defendant Canty's statements are testimonial, the admission did not violate the petitioner's confrontation rights because it did not implicate Appellant. Appellant had no need for cross-examination because the testimonial evidence did not reference him or implicate him in any crime. Crawford is therefore inapplicable. See, e.g., U.S. v. Akefe, 2010 WL 2899805, at 25-26 (S.D.N.Y. July 21, 2010).¹³

Assuming Caldwell error, harmless error analysis applies. The Appellant claims any

¹³ In regard to a similar situation, the Fifth Circuit found that "while Crawford certainly prohibits the introduction of a codefendant's out-of-court testimonial statement against the other defendants in a multiple-defendant trial, it does not signal a departure from the rules governing the admittance of such a statement against the speaker-defendant himself, which continue to be provided by Bruton, Richardson, and Gray." United States v. Ramos-Cardenas, 524 F.3d 600, 609-610 (5th Cir. 2008). By the same logic, the Second Circuit, also in reviewing a Bruton redaction, found "there is no separate Crawford problem, and we see no indication that Crawford overrules Richardson or expands the holding of Bruton." United States v. Lung Fong Chen, 393 F.3d 139, 150 (2nd Cir. 2004). See also United States v. Williams, 429 F.3d 767, 773 n.2 (8th Cir. 2005) ("We note that Crawford did not overrule Bruton and its progeny"). Applying the same logic here, because Canty's statements were properly redacted of any specific reference to Jackson by the use of neutral pronouns. At any rate, as shown in the prior argument in the instant brief, that statement was properly redacted; thus, there could be no error under the Confrontation Clause. Ramos-Cardenas.

error in the use of the statements could not be harmless error. He asserts that the failure to specifically have either fingerprints or DNA linking him to the crime scene removes the possible error. As set forth in the conclusion of argument one, the admission of the statements were harmless.

SEVERENCE ISSUE

III. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying Appellant's motion for severance.

Appellant contends the trial court erred in denying the motion for severance made by his counsel. He claims that the joint trial compromised his right to confront and cross-examine his accuser where five statements were introduced at the trial. Initial Brief of Appellant, p. 17-18. However, he fails to articulate the basis as to why the introduction of the statements of co-defendant Canty, after redaction, required that severance be granted in the trial court's discretion. The trial judge did not err in denying severance.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

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